
 

 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Enquiries to: Sian Walter-Browne 
Telephone:  01706924701 
Date: Friday, 27 February 2015 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 9 March 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 
The agenda and supporting papers are attached. Site visits have been arranged 
as follows:- 

4.00pm                 Hill Top Road Heywood 
4.30pm                 51 Aspinall Street Heywood 
5.00pm                 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages Woodhouse Lane Rochdale 

 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee Membership 2014/15 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed 
Councillor Andy Bell 
Councillor Surinder Biant 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor John Hartley 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor June West 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 9 March 2015 at 6.15 pm 
 

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 3 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Submitted Planning applications  4 - 50 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 3



 
 

  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:   Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee 

 
  

Date:         9th March 2015   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment 
 

Author: See individual agenda reports 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 

related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 

and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 

matters which may affect the work of the Committee. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 

detailed in the following papers. 

 
3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 

accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2012 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management) Procedure 
Order 2010 together with any Circulars and Regulations which support that 

legislation.   
 

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 

report. 
 

 
 

 

ITEM NO. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 

     The Development Plan 
 

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 

Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.   

 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 

requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 

other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report. 
 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  

 
4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 

dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 

ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 

and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   
 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 

commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 

on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Chief Planning Officer.   

 

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.    

 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 

applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 

plan and other material planning considerations. 
 

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 

Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 

 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 

effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 

including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 

Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

Page 5



Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) has concluded all 

opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been 
taken, or where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the 

basis of the planning merits of the development proposal.   
 

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 

designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 

matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports. 
 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 

 
6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 

consideration to their comments. 
 

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 

Development Plan, the Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) 
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 

applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 

public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 

approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 6



Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 

this agenda will include:- 
 

 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 
 

 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 

been consulted or commented on the planning application 
iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 

iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 
and of relevance to the submitted proposal 

  

 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 

 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 

on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 

 
       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 

relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 
 

 
 

 

Page 7



Application Number: 14/01427/HOUS    Ward: North Heywood       
 

 
Proposal: Installation of roller shutter gate to rear yard on Tonge Street (Retrospective) 
- resubmission of 14/01175/HOUS 
 

Site Address: 51 Aspinall Street Heywood OL10 4HN   
 

Applicant: Mrs Elizabeth McGeown 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
This application was called up to committee by Councillor Peter Rush and seconded by 
Councillor Alan McCarthy to allow consideration of the visual amenity of the development.  At 
the meeting of the Heywood Township Planning Sub Committee on 17 February 2015, 
members unanimously resolved that they were minded to grant the application contrary to the 
officer recommendation, subject to a condition requiring a scheme for the brickwork and 
render to be made good and coping stones to be installed.  In accordance with the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation, the application is before the Licensing and Regulatory Committee as 
the resolution is contrary to a previous decision of the Council.  Members of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable planning grounds.   
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a detached dwelling which lies in a corner plot at the road junction of 
Aspinall Street to the east and Tonge Street to the south, with an alleyway to the rear (west) 
and terraced houses to the north. The site lies in the defined urban area and the property has 
a walled rear yard area along with an open area to the north for the side garden which has 
consent for two additional dwellings (see planning history). The majority of houses in the area 
are terraced and therefore rely on on-street parking for vehicles. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
The application is a resubmission of a previous application (ref 14/01175/HOUS) which was 
refused on 26 November 2014 as a delegated decision. 
 
The scheme is submitted retrospectively to retain a roller shutter door which has been placed 
in an opening onto Tonge Street to provide access to the rear of the dwelling. The door 
measures 3.3 metres in width and has a height of 2.9 metres, is painted black and is operated 
electronically. 
 
The door is positioned adjacent to a dropped kerb on Tonge Street which is understood to 
have been lowered earlier in 2014 at the applicant’s request to allow for vehicle access from 
the side road (not classified, and therefore the lowering of the kerb did not require planning 
permission) into the rear curtilage of the property. The roller shutter is set into the wall 
adjacent to the main gable of the house and with a further section of walls to the other side, 
both of which are pebble dashed. 
 
A Supporting Statement has been provided on behalf of the applicant by M Jones Planning 
Consultancy which sets out the case in favour of the retention of the shutter door, concluding 
by stating that: 
 
“Whilst a roller shutter garage door may not be common within this part of Heywood it is not an 
unusual feature within modern housing developments. The fact that there aren’t many garages 
within the area doesn’t necessarily mean that a garage door is unacceptable. My client informs 
me that there is another roller shutter garage door within the immediate area. The roller 
shutter garage door has been painted in a sympathetic colour and provides safe and easy 
access for my client who has mobility issues. It is not incongruous but is a design solution that 
works well for my client and on that basis complies with paragraph 60 of the NPPF. It is a form 
of sustainable development that should be supported by the Council.” 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Page 9



 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
 
G/D/1 Defined Urban Area 
 
G/H/1 Housing 
H/11 Residential Extensions 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development 
 
G/A/1 Accessibility 
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING  HISTORY 
 
14/01175/HOUS - Installation of roller shutter gate to rear yard on Tonge Street 
(Retrospective): Refused 26 November 2014 for the following reason: 
 
“The use of a roller shutter is considered to be an unusual feature to serve a residential 
property. The immediate locality is characterised by terraced properties and there is an 
absence of garages in the area. The installation within the boundary wall of the roller shutter is 
considered to be an alien feature which is incongruous within the street scene by virtue of its 
materials, siting and size and it therefore harms the character of the area contrary to the 
requirements of UDP Policies H/11 and BE/2 along with the SPG.” 
 
13/01134/FUL - Residential development for the erection of 2 three-storey dwellings: 
Approved. 
 
10/D52814 - Erection of 2 x 2 metre high vehicle access, freestanding alley gates: Approved. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. On Street Parking in its self-constitutes a risk as it 
creates blind spots between cars where pedestrians, particularly young children cannot be 
seen. We therefore within Highways Service encourage vehicles being parked clear of the 
highway. The Applicant seeks to remove a vehicle from the Highway.  
 
Issues regarding the lack of visibility at the entrance to the roller shutters are duly noted and it 
is correct to say that visibility at this location is limited. Visibility requirements are however 

Page 10



calculated using vehicle speeds. In this instance we are trying to safely accommodate 
pedestrians on the footway and vehicles coming in and out of the roller shutter. In both 
instances the speeds of each are slow that the visibility requirement is approximately 0.5m in 
can be accommodated within the width of the access constructed.  
 
On balance Highways see the improvement in safety given by the removal of a car from the 
Highway outweighs the increased risk of the limited visibility and we therefore have no 
objections to this proposal. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter and two 
objections have been received.  The points raised in the objections and the Officer’s 
responses are listed below:  
 

• Loss of two on-street parking spaces due to the dropped kerb and roller shutter. 
 

Officer Response: The issue of on-street parking is not a matter over which the Council 
can exercise any control as there are currently no parking restrictions along the road. 

 

• Visual appearance of the roller shutter is out of character 
 

Officer Response: See analysis section. 
 

• Highway safety due to lack of visibility when driving out through the opening. 
 

Officer Response: It is noted that the garage door is flush with the back of the 
pavement and therefore visibility is limited when leaving the site; however the lack of 
any objection form the Highway Officer is noted. 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Visual Appearance 
 
Policies G/BE/1, BE/2 and H/11 of the UDP along with the guidance of the SPG require new 
development and extensions to dwellings to be compatible with their surroundings in terms of 
scale, height, massing, layout, materials and architectural style. 
 
The use of a roller shutter is considered to be an unusual feature to serve a residential 
property. This is a shutter more akin to those found on commercial or industrial premises. Its 
impact is increased by the lack of any surround which makes it appear more isolated and 
obtrusive; normally roller shutters would be fitted to a building rather than simply within an 
opening with nothing above it. This is particularly the case with roller shutters on domestic 
garages which would normally have the shutter housing within the garage itself.  
 
The immediate locality is characterised by terraced properties and there is an absence of 
garages in the area. The installation within the boundary wall of the roller shutter is considered 
to be an alien feature which is incongruous within the street scene by virtue of its materials, 
siting and size and it therefore harms the character of the area. 
 
The personal circumstances of the applicant are noted but it is not considered that this would 
outweigh the harm to the street scene caused by the roller shutter. This is not the only means 
of securing the opening at a height which would allow a mobility vehicle to pass through.    
 
As such, the application is considered to be contrary to the requirements of UDP Policies H/11 
and BE/2 along with the SPG. 

Page 11



 
Impact on Nearby Occupiers 
 
Policy H/11 of the UDP along with the advice of the SPG seeks to ensure that alterations to 
residential properties do not affect the privacy and amenity of adjoining residents via 
overlooking, overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF has 
the protection of the amenity of all existing and future occupants of land and buildings as one 
of its core planning principles. 
 
The points made in the letters of objection are duly noted; however it is not considered that the 
retention of the roller shutter would result in any loss of amenity or privacy to any nearby 
occupiers to a degree which would lead to a refusal of permission. 
 
Accordingly, the proposed development is in line with UDP Policy H/11 and the SPG.  
Highways 
 
Policy A/10 requires new development to provide satisfactory levels of parking for the 
proposal. Criteria d) and e) of Policy H/11 require alterations to residential properties to not 
unduly deprive the property of parking areas and to not prejudice highway safety.  The SPG 
establishes the need for sufficient car parking to serve dwellings. 
 
The points made by the objectors to the effective loss of on-street parking to serve the local 
residents as a whole is recognised.  However, it is not believed that such a loss can be shown 
to warrant a refusal of permission given that on-street parking cannot be controlled in any 
event and it must also be recognised that there is no objection to the scheme from the 
Highway Officer. 
 
On this basis, the development is adjudged to be satisfactory in respect of highways issues 
and the scheme therefore complies with UDP Policies A/10 and H/11, and the SPG. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Whilst the resubmitted application is accompanied by a Planning Statement, this is the only 
change to the submission documents since the previous refusal in November 2014 and there 
are not considered to be any material changes to the circumstances of the proposal which 
represent a basis on which to make a contrary decision. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE for the following reason:- 
 
The use of a roller shutter is considered to be an unusual feature to serve a residential 
property. The immediate locality is characterised by terraced properties and there is an 
absence of garages in the area. The installation within the boundary wall of the roller shutter is 
considered to be an alien feature which is incongruous within the street scene by virtue of its 
materials, siting and size and it therefore harms the character of the area contrary to the 
requirements of UDP Policies H/11 and BE/2 along with the SPG. 
 
 
Report Author Philip Garner 

 
 
 
 _________________________________________________ 
 

Page 12



Application Number: 14/01440/REM    Ward: Hopwood Hall       
 

 
Proposal: Reserved matters application following outline approval 09/D52030 (for 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection of an urban distribution 
centre (Use Class B8) including ancillary office space, parking, landscaping, cycle 
stores, and boundary treatments. 
 

Site Address: Land Off Hill Top Road Heywood    
 

Applicant: Mr Colin Beasley 
                  Graftongate 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 

Page 13



DELEGATION SCHEME 

 
At the meeting of the Heywood Township Planning Sub Committee on 17th February 2015, 
Members of that Committee resolved that they were minded to approve the application subject 
to the conditions recommended and the inclusion of 2 further conditions. These additional 
conditions are numbers 12 and 13 set out at the end of this report and are recommended to 
bring the permission in line with the reserved matters permission on the adjacent Yearsley’s 
site. The applicant has agreed to the inclusion of these conditions. Members of the Licensing 
and Regulatory Committee have delegated powers to approve or refuse the application based 
on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
An additional consultation response has been received from the Environment Agency, which is 
reported in the consultation response section of the report.  The condition recommended is 
already included at condition No.2.  
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a circa 2.43 hectare parcel of land within the Hareshill Distribution 
Park, Heywood. The site is located to the southwest of the settlement of Heywood and at the 
easternmost end of an employment zone that comprises Heywood Distribution Park to the 
west, and the adjacent Pilsworth Business Park to the north. The M62 motorway is located to 
the south and the M65 motorway to the west beyond open countryside. 
 
The site comprises a largely flat and rectangular parcel of land located in the northeast corner 
of the Hareshill Distribution Park. The site is currently vacant having previously been cleared 
for development and is the last remaining plot at the Hareshill Distribution Park to be 
developed. The site borders two storey residential dwellings at Gloucester Avenue and Honiton 
Close to the southeast, and to the northeast of the site is St Joseph’s RC Primary School and 
the Holy Family Secondary College and associated playing fields. The site borders storage and 
distribution buildings to the south occupied by Yearsleys, and to the northwest by an Ink 
manufacturing and distribution facility operated by INX International. An existing 7 metre high 
earth bund runs immediately adjacent to the southeast boundary of the site and a lower bund 
along the northeast boundary. Public rights of way run between the site and the residential 
properties to the east. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks planning permission for the reserved matters of scale, layout, 
appearance and landscaping for a storage and distribution centre (use Class B8) and 
associated works. This application follows the grant of outline planning permission (access 
only) reference no. 09/D52030 for a mixed use development of light industrial space (Use 
Class B1(c), general industrial space (use class B2) and storage and distribution space (use 
class B8). 
 
The proposed scheme comprises 8,410 m2 of warehouse space, with 427m2 of internal 
ancillary office space. The proposed building would be rectangular in shape measuring 129.4 
metres in length by 65.3 metres in width and extending to 13.5 metres in height to the eaves 
and 16.5 metres to the ridge. The building would be orientated to run lengthways towards the 
southeast boundary of the site. The proposed vehicular access, service yard and parking 
areas would be located to the frontage (western) part of the site.  
 
The proposed scheme includes 85 no. parking spaces, with 6 no. disabled parking spaces 
located to the front of the building and service yard. The proposal includes the provision of a 
Sheffield style cycle shelter which would be located to the southwest side of the building. The 
site would be accessed at its south western end via the existing road network in the 
distribution park which provides access on to Hareshill Road and then on to Pilsworth Road. It 

Page 14



is proposed to erect a 2.4 metre high paladine fence along the northeast and southeast 
boundaries. The existing boundary fences would be retained to the southwest and northwest 
boundaries. The scheme has been amended to include a 2.5 metre high, tongue and groove 
timber acoustic fence along the northeast and northwest boundaries to provide an acoustic 
barrier to the service yard. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
A/11  New Development Transport Assessments 
A/12  New Development – Travel Plans 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply 
EC/2  Primary Employment Zones 
EC/8  Development Sites in Employment Areas 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/3  Noise and new Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
 

Page 15



G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/7  Tree Preservation Orders 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Energy and New Development SPD 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 
00/D37468 – Industrial Development and diversion of public right of way – Approved – 
19/12/00. 
 
06/D47823 – Extension to estate Road – Approved – 27/11/2006. 
 
08/D51578 – Outline application for mixed use development – Refused – 30/03/2009. 
 
09/D52030 – Outline application (including means of access) for mixed use development 
B1(c), B2 and B8 – Resubmission of D51578 – Approved subject to conditions – 11/03/2010. 
 
11/D55088 – Non material amendment of permission D52030 to allow for phased 
development of the site by revision to conditions 2, 6, 10, 11, 15 and 17 – Approved – 
21/12/2011. 
 
11/D54138 – Application for approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline D52030 for a 
cold store and distribution facility – Approved – 18/08/11. 
 
11/D54960 – Application for approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 
D52030 for an ink manufacturing and distribution facility – Approved – 16/12/2011. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. This is a reserved matters application and the 
principle of such a development has already been agreed.  
 
The layout given shows a satisfactory parking provision is provided on site and there is a good 
segregation/definitive area for Private Vehicles as opposed to Commercial Vehicles. 
 
The functional area provided for the commercial Vehicles is satisfactory and vehicles can 
safely operate in this are with ample space.  
 
The Traffic Generated in the peak hour by the commercial traffic is such that it will only 
represent a slight intensification compared with the existing situation. There is not sufficient 
reason to make any objection to this development on Traffic Grounds. 
 
Highways Agency: - No objections. 
 
United Utilities (UU): - No objections, comments as follows: 
 
Drainage: 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Building Regulations, the site 
should be drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and 
surface water draining in the most sustainable way.  

Page 16



 
No objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are attached to any 
approval: - 
 
1. Submission and approval of a foul water drainage scheme. Foul water to drain on a 

separate system. 
 
2. Submission and approval of a surface water drainage scheme. The surface water 

drainage scheme must be attenuated to a maximum discharge that mimics existing runoff 
rates and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface 
water shall discharge to the combined sewerage system either directly or indirectly.  

 
Water: 
A recent study showed that there is very little capacity in the water network for commercial 
expansion in this area. Any demand for commercial/industrial purposes will most likely result in 
a need for reinforcement to the existing network at the developer’s expense. 
 
The level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either during or 
after construction.  
 
Water pressure in this area is regulated to around 20 metres head. This should be taken into 
account when designing the internal plumbing.  
 
The applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have 
progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with an 
application for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to eliminate 
the risk of contamination to the local water supply. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer:- The report submitted is adequate, and there is no need for further 
remediation measures or conditions. 
 
Environment Agency:- No objection to the proposed development.  Recommend that oil 
interceptors be provided to treat surface water before it leaves the site.  
 
Officer Response: - Recommended condition no. 2 requires the submission of details of oil 
interceptors be provided as part of the foul and surface water drainage strategy for the site. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise):- This section has no objection in principle to the application.  
The submitted noise report has demonstrated that the proposed development on the site can 
with the exception of the eastern boundary of St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Junior School 
playing fields operate within the noise limits set out in condition 12 in application 09/D52030 
(see below).   
 
Condition 12 
The measured noise levels from noise generated by the site operations shall not exceed the 
following: 
 
(i) At the eastern boundary of the site, adjacent to the gardens of Gloucester Avenue 
50dB(A) leq 1 hour during the daytime (0600-1900 hours) 
48dB(A) leq 1 hour during the evening (1900-2300 hours) 
39dB(A) leq 1 hour during the night time (2300-0600 hours) 
 
(ii) At Higher Broadfield Farm 
49dB(A) leq 1 hour during the daytime (0600-1900 hours) 
49dB(A) leq 1 hour during the evening (1900-2300 hours) 
44dB(A) leq 1 hour during the night time (2300-0600 hours) 

Page 17



 
(iii) At the eastern boundary of St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Junior School playing fields 
46dB(A) leq 1 hour during the daytime (0600-1900 hours) 
44dB(A) leq 1 hour during the evening (1900-2300 hours) 
40dB(A) leq 1 hour during the night time (2300-0600 hours) 
 
The limits can however be met at the school building.  The required the limits can be achieved 
on the playing fields but would require an acoustic fence to be installed along the northern 
boundary. I am in agreement with the report author that the installation of an acoustic fence to 
protect the playing field, when the limits can be achieved at the school itself would appear to 
be onerous and unreasonable. 
    
Previous applications for the site have met with opposition from local residents in particular in 
relation to noise, to that end the Public Protection Service has undertaken noise monitoring of 
the current site to check compliance with the conditions.  The monitoring was undertaken on 
the 16th October 2014 at the rear of 32 Gloucester Avenue to approximately sit in-between the 
two facilities Inx and Yearsleys, this mirrored the monitoring undertaken on the 6th August 
2013 (Appendix 1 of comments).    Both sets of monitoring showed compliance with the 
conditioned limits for Gloucester Avenue. 
 
Taking all the information above into account this section would recommend one of the 
following conditions: 
 

• Altering part (iii) of condition 12 to show a different measurement location: 

(iii) At St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Junior School instead of At the eastern boundary of St 
Joseph’s Roman Catholic Junior School playing fields 
 
46dB(A) leq 1 hour during the daytime (0600-1900 hours) 
44dB(A) leq 1 hour during the evening (1900-2300 hours) 
40dB(A) leq 1 hour during the night time (2300-0600 hours 
Or 

• A condition requiring the installation of an acoustic fence along the northern 

boundary of the site & no alterations to condition 12. 

 

Preference would be option 1 as it introduces a more representative measurement location 
and is not requiring the cost of an acoustic fence that is disproportionate to the protection 
afforded to a playing field.  
 
Natural England: - Comments as follows: 
 
No objections regarding statutory sites of conservation value.  Standing advice should be 
taken into account regarding Protected Species. 
 
With respect to local sites of geological, wildlife or conservation value the LPA should be 
satisfied that it has sufficient information to assess the scheme. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: – No objections. The proposed planting mix, although 
rather ‘ornamental’, could be considered acceptable in the light of the (still developing) context 
and is not necessarily poor for wildlife. 
 
Green Infrastructure Officer (Arboriculturalist): - The planting and landscaping proposals are 
fine.  The mix of larger tree species and low maintenance amenity shrub planting should 
soften the building and increase screening from nearby housing and neighbouring units. 
 
Landscape (RBC): – No objections, comments as follows: 

Page 18



 
The planting within the site, around the vehicular areas appears OK albeit with a lot of 
hornbeam (Carpinus) hedging which will need constant maintenance. All planting should 
receive a good bark mulch to aid establishment. 
 
GM Fire Service: - No comments received to date. 
 
RBC Waste Management:- No objections. 
 

Ramblers Association:- No objections to the proposals provided that the local bridleway Hey 
Bp 71 and any local footpaths are not affected. 
 
Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society:– No objections, request condition preventing 
obstruction to footpath Heywood 72 and 73. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development site notices were displayed 
at 3 locations around the site and in the local press. A total of 4 separate letters of objection 
have been submitted in objection to the application. The points of objection, and the officer 
responses, are summarised as follows: 
 
Objection: 
Noise is a material consideration and the night time noise from the existing business park uses 
already annoys and disturbs surrounding residents in Gloucester Avenue and beyond in 
Hopwood. 
 
Officer response: 
Noise and the impact on neighbouring residents is a material consideration and is discussed in 
detail below. The applicants have submitted a noise report carried out by a qualified consultant 
which recommends suggested mitigation measures. This has been independently assessed 
by the Council’s Environmental Health Team who have raised no objections subject to the 
provision of acoustic attenuation at the site. 
 
Objection: 
Further HGV congestion would cause catastrophic harm to the welfare of surrounding families 
and would worsen an existing unacceptable situation. It would be a neglect of Council’s duty of 
care to not require a full independent 7-14 day noise assessment be undertaken before 
granting permission. 
 
Officer Response: 
The application has been supported by an Acoustic Report carried out by a suitably qualified 
person, and this has been independently reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health 
Team. The Council’s Environmental Health Officers and Planning Officers have monitored 
noise levels generated at the site and these have not indicated that the site operates within the 
acceptable noise levels as approved in permission 09/D52030. The assessment carried out 
takes into account additional noise generated by existing operations on site by seeking a 
maximum noise target of 3 decibels below the maximum level set out in the conditions on the 
overall business park. 
 
Objection: 
The School field is an important asset for outdoor recreation, education, ecological study and 
should not be sacrificed. The applicant must install significant noise attenuating screening to 
the northern boundary of the service yard to maintain the maximum levels as specified in the 
original approval. 

Page 19



 
Officers Response: 
The scheme has been amended to include an acoustic fence along the northern boundary of 
the site that would wrap around the service yard and along the western boundary and overlap 
a section of the building in order to mitigate for noise from the service yard, and not 
compromise the school grounds to the north. 
 
Objection: 
Noise breakout from the northern boundary would be detrimental to the residential properties 
at Gloucester Avenue and Honiton Close which do not benefit from the attenuating earth bund. 
 
 
Officers Response: 
The scheme has been amended to provide an acoustic barrier along the northern boundary of 
the site to address noise breakout from the yard, and additional tree planting in the northeast 
corner to screen the proposal from dwellings to the northeast. Noise surveys indicate that the 
proposal would not lead to an increase over the existing maximum noise levels. 
 
Objection: 
As a speculative development it is possible that another cold store company could occupy the 
site with associated implications. 
 
Officer Response: 
There is no identified end user at present and permission is sought for a storage and 
distribution use of the building. As in all applications planning permissions these are tied to the 
land and not tied or restricted to a particular owner or occupier. Such conditions are not 
considered to meet the test for conditions set out in Circular 11/95 Use of conditions in 
planning permission. 
 
Objections: 
A number of objections were raised regarding the validity of the submitted noise report and 
noise surveys undertaken. Below is a summary of the issues raised and Officer response. 
 
Officers Response: 
The objections are numbered, with the comments of the Environmental Health Officer below: 
 

a) The noise levels measured are from 2011 and don’t take into account the expansion of 
the site. 

 
It is recognised that the measurements are historical, the measured levels were discussed 
with the report author and are in line with the public protections monitoring undertaken in 
2012, 13, & 14. 
 
Subsequently the measurements have been used to show an existing background noise level 
of 39 dBLA90 on the Gloucester road side of the existing bund.  It is also worth noting that 
during all monitoring of the site subjective assessment of the noise would suggest that the 
dominant noise source in the area is the motorway, and there was no obvious noise arising 
from the site. 
 

b) Incorrect noise correction given the no data from existing sites. 
 

The noise correction uses the appropriate formula apply a -36dB reduction to represent the 
parking noise over a 1 hour period.   Further corrections are then applied to account for 
distance and screening.  The resultant figure of 13 dB LAeq,1hr is significantly lower than the 
background level and as such affords sufficient room for the existing operations. 
 

Page 20



c) The values presented within the report are average and the planning condition at night 
requires 39 dB(A) which is similar to the levels expected within a library, this value will 
be exceeded as proven on previous occasions. 

 
The condition noise levels in addition to being comparable to potential levels within library may 
also represent the lowest limit of urban ambient sound, and as such provides a tight control on 
noise levels.  On no occasion have the Public Protection Service monitored exceedance of 
this level.  Additionally a number of subjective assessments have been carried out in relation 
to complaints; none of the visits have identified instances of noise nuisance from the site. 
 
 
 

d) Temperature inversions  
 
Environmental Health Officers would not normally expect to see reference made to 
temperature inversions.   They are the exception to the norm, and it would be unreasonable to 
expect the developer to screen for unforeseen meteorological events. 
 

e) Noise readings undertaken by EH are in the wrong place. 
 
The condition is worded as follows “at the eastern boundary of the site, adjacent to the 
gardens of Gloucester Avenue” it is my professional opinion the measurement location used 
by the Public Protection Service represents this (see map) 

 
Officers experience of the site suggests that the further from the bund you get the motorway 
becomes more prominent. 
 

f) Existing conditions are currently exceeded 
 

The Public Protection has carried out compliance monitoring of the site as recently as 16th 
October 2014, none of the monitoring activities have shown breaches of the planning 

Gl
o

u
ce

st

er 
a

v
e

n

Page 21



conditions.  Additionally subjective monitoring of the site has not shown any indication of 
statutory nuisance at residential properties.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Employment Development and Compliance with Scale / Use Parameters on 
Outline 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF identifies a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision-taking this means: 

• approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

• where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  
o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

o specific policies in [the NPPF] indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 19 of the NPPF also requires that “significant weight should be placed on the need 
to support economic growth through the planning system”. 
 
Policy EC/2 of the UDP states that within primary employment zones development and 
change of use, for industrial, business and warehouse uses (Use Class B1, B2 and B8) will be 
permitted where proposals: 

1. are of an appropriate scale and character to the area; 
2. will cause no unacceptable environmental or amenity problems in the employment 

area or adjoining areas; and 
3. will cause no unacceptable traffic problems and have adequate on site provision for 

parking, servicing and manoeuvring.  
 
Policy EC/8 of the UDP states that for the Hareshill Road employment zone, indicates the type 
of development that will be supported in this employment zone, and states that: 

1. B8 uses will not be permitted; 
2. Landscape buffer zones are to be provided between development in the site and 

surrounding area; 
3. Existing public rights of way shall be retained; 
4. Landscape features of nature conservation interest should be retained and enhanced. 

 
The site is allocated within the UDP as part of a Primary Employment Area, for which policy 
EC/2 considers subject to a series of environmental based criteria that in principle the 
provision of industrial, business and storage and distribution uses are acceptable. The 
separate criteria are discussed in more detail in later sections, however given the above and 
that the application site benefits from outline planning permission for either B1(c), B2 and B8 
uses, it is considered that the proposed use for storage and distribution purposes (use class 
B8) would be acceptable in principle. 
 
Whilst it is noted that policy EC/8 of the UDP specifies that within the Hareshill Road 
employment zone, B8 uses would not be acceptable, it is noted that outline planning 
permission reference no. 09/D52030, has subsequently been granted for the mixed use 
development of the Hareshill Road  site, including B8 (Storage and Distribution) uses. In 
addition, that further reserved matters applications for such storage uses have also been 
granted on adjacent sites within the Hareshill Road employment zone. For instance that 
operated by Yearsley’s, reference 11/D54138, and for a mixed use manufacturing and 
distribution facility operated by INX, reference no. 11/D54960. 
 

Page 22



Furthermore, it is noted that since the adoption of the UDP the NPPF has been published 
which states in paragraph 22 that “planning policies should avoid the long term protection of 
sites allocated for employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of the site being 
used for that purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed”. Paragraph 19 also 
states that planning should operate to encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable 
growth”. 
 
In addition, the Rochdale Publication Core Strategy (2013) which has yet to be adopted but 
indicates the emerging planning policy for the site in the future, states under policy E3 that 
development will be promoted for B1, B2 and B8 uses on the site and that the area will be 
promoted for mainly distribution uses. 
 
It is noted that the outline planning permission for the site which this application seeks 
reserved matters consent for, includes conditions restricting the overall amount of light 
industrial and general industrial space on the site. However, given the proposed use of the site 
is for storage and distribution purposes, it is noted that these restrictions would not be 
applicable in this instance. 
 
Therefore, the principle of the proposed storage and distribution centre on this site is 
considered acceptable and to accord with the saved policies and objectives of the 
development plan, the direction of emerging local planning policies and the policy objectives 
within the NPPF. 
 
Amenity of Surrounding Occupants and Relationship with Surrounding Uses and Development 
 
Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that, decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development. 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. Furthermore, policy EC/8 requires that employment development 
cause no unacceptable amenity problems in adjoining areas. 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
With regards to the impact on outlook and daylight the guidance regarding spacing standards 
outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development” recommends that a minimum separation distance of 21 metres should be 
retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres 
between principal and secondary elevations. 
 
It is noted that the application site is located towards the eastern edge of the employment 
zone and borders a residential area to the east and with school and college grounds to the 
north of the site. Whilst no specific details of hours of operation have been submitted, the 
application seeks permission for a storage and distribution facility with no restrictions on hours 
to allow operation 24 hours a day and throughout the week. 
 
It is noted that neighbouring residents at Gloucester Avenue and Honiton Close have raised 
objections to the proposed development due to the additional harm and disturbance caused 
from noise and activity generated by the proposal, and have questioned the validity of noise 
assessments undertaken and reports submitted. The specific queries raised have been 
considered and addressed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer as set out above.  
 
In addition, the applicant’s acoustic consultant has provided the following responses to the 
objections raised by neighbouring residents.  

Page 23



 
Objection 1: The acoustic report relies on data from 2011 and does not take account of 
refrigerated vehicles and associated vehicle movements at the Yearsley site and is therefore 
inaccurate.  
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: The calculations on predicted noise levels are based on 14 
years experience using HGV noise level data and obtained over a number of years, and which 
have been used to accurately predict noise levels numerous other sites in the UK, and was 
produced using latest industry standard noise modelling software. The predicted noise levels 
were then also checked manually. 
 
Objection 2: The acoustic report highlights that noise levels will exceed the planning condition 
at the adjacent school raising concerns regarding disturbance at residential properties and at 
night time. This condition should not be relaxed.  
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: Any relaxation of the noise levels affecting the school playing 
fields would not in any way impact on the resultant noise levels potentially affecting residential 
properties. The applicant has agreed to construct a noise barrier to the north of the site in 
order to comply with the maximum noise levels on the planning condition rather than relaxing 
the condition. 
 
Objection 3: The night time noise limit attached to the planning condition on the original outline 
permission will be exceeded as proven on previous occasions. 
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: The Acoustic consultant is confident of their noise level 
predictions for the proposed development which is fully compliant with the methodology in 
British Standard BS4142 which used for all industrial noise level assessments. Previous 
occasions where night time noise limits may have been exceeded relate to a different site and 
existing use and should not prejudice consideration of the proposed development. 
 
Objection 4: Temperature inversions can cause acoustic barriers to become ineffective and 
the report prepared by the Acoustic Consultant represents only a snapshot best case 
scenario. 
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: Where there is a large barrier very close to the noise source 
or receiver, and the distance between the source and receiver is not significant , which is the 
case in this instance, any potential increase in noise levels due to temperature inversions 
would be negligible. 
 
Objection 5: The earth bund offers little protection to residents at first floor. 
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: The noise predictions are based on noise at the actual 
residences and relate to first floor level during the night-time. 
 
Objection 6: The proposal will increase noise levels in the area due to the buildings reflecting 
noise. The effect of this ‘canyon effect’ is shown on the noise map diagram within the acoustic 
report. 
 
Acoustic Consultants Response: The effect shown on the noise map is simply the noise 
travelling between the two buildings as would occur in any case. Some noise will reflect 
between the buildings this will not have the effect of increasing the noise from the site. 
 
It is noted that the residential dwellings nearest the site, along Gloucester Avenue are 
between 60 and 70 metres from the rear of the proposed distribution centre building with the 
rear gardens extending westwards up to a public footpath running to the rear. As part of the 
outline planning permission and earlier phases of the business park development a substantial 

Page 24



earth bund 7 metres in height has been erected and landscaping planted along the eastern 
boundary of the business park to provide an acoustic and visual barrier between the 
residential properties and the industrial and employment development at Hareshill Road. 
 
The outline planning permission for the entirety of the site also includes a condition limiting the 
maximum levels of noise emitted from the site. This maximum level of noise was considered 
acceptable and sufficient to ensure that there would be no over-riding harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents. The Council’s Environmental Health Team have continued to monitor 
noise levels at the site most recently in October 2014 and have found no evidence that the 
existing operations are in breach of the condition restricting noise levels at the site.  
 
The noise survey submitted in support of the application concludes that the maximum noise 
levels would not be exceeded at the nearby dwellings as a result of the proposed 
development. However, it does note that the proposed development would without mitigation 
result in noise levels in excess of the maximum levels considered acceptable as set out in 
condition  12 of outline permission 09/D52030, at the St Joseph’s RC Primary School playing 
fields to the north. The report recommends either the amendment to this condition to relocate 
location of noise survey measurements, or erect an acoustic barrier along the northern 
boundary of the site.  
 
The Noise Assessment has been independently reviewed by Councils Public Protection 
Department and suitably trained officers in acoustics who have raised no objections to the 
proposed development subject to either, the submission and approval of an acoustic fence to 
be erected along the northwest boundary, or the amendment of condition 12 of the outline 
permission to amend the location of noise survey measurements. The applicant has amended 
the proposed scheme to include an acoustic fence along the northwest boundary of the site 
which would wrap around the service yard. As a result the proposed development would still 
continue to meet the requirements of condition 12 of the original permission 09/D52030.  
 
The Public Protection Team have confirmed that the proposed acoustic fence would be 
satisfactory. Therefore, it is considered that the operation of the proposed development would 
not in principle prejudice the use of the adjacent business uses, and nearby schools. It is also 
noted that the original condition setting the maximum noise levels would continue to be 
monitored and enforced.  
 
With regards to the impact from lighting, it is noted that the site would be in operation during 
evening and night-time hours and therefore includes a variety of wall mounted light fittings 
around the perimeter of the building and lighting columns to the front service yard area. 
However, the lighting spillage plan submitted shows that there would be no significant spread 
of illumination from the site beyond the earth bund to the rear of the site, and given that the 
proposed building would be greater in height than the lighting columns it is noted that this 
would provide an effective screen between the proposed lighting columns and dwellings. As a 
result, it is not considered that there would be any significant harm caused to surrounding 
residents by way of light spillage and illumination. 
 
With regards to the visual impact of the proposed development, it is also noted that concerns 
have been raised regarding the height and scale of the building and its impact on outlook and 
light of neighbouring residents. The proposed building at 13.5 metres in height to the eaves 
and 16.5 metres in height to the ridge would be visible from the rear of dwellings along 
Gloucester Avenue and presents a long elevation to the eastwards to these dwellings.  
 
It is noted that the proposed building would be sited approximately 60 – 70 metres from the 
rear elevations of dwellings at Gloucester Avenue. It is also noted that the intervening 
substantial earth bund and established planting would screen a large proportion of the 
proposed building from these dwellings. Furthermore, it is noted that the height of the 
proposed building would comply with height limits on the outline planning permission which 

Page 25



were included to restrict the overall heights within the site in the interest of the amenities 
surrounding properties and uses. 
 
The proposed landscaping plan has also been amended to include a more dense and 
extensive collection of tree planting in the northeast corner of the site to provide visual and 
acoustic screening to the residential properties to the northeast as the bund reduces in height 
at this corner. 
 
It is also noted that the building would be lower in height than the adjacent storage building 
operated by Yearsley’s which was previously approved and granted planning permission. As a 
result, it is considered that the proposed development as a result of its separation, intervening 
landscaped bund and tree planting, would not result in unacceptable harm to the amenity of 
adjoining occupiers through overbearing impact, overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of 
daylight.  
 
Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would 
be compatible with surrounding commercial and educational uses, and subject to conditions 
would not cause significant adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding residents, and is 
therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, and EC/8, the 
objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the 
policies within the NPPF. 
 
Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Streetscene and Surrounding Area 
 

Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by: 

• Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of 
their scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail 
and means of enclosure; 

• Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

• Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

• Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 
Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

• will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

• establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create 
attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

• respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings 
and materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

• create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 
The site is located within an established business park comprising large scale warehouse 
buildings, storage and distribution sheds, and smaller scale industrial units of modern 
utilitarian design. The proposed storage and distribution building would be of substantial scale 
and height, but would not be discordant with the height, scale and length of other buildings in 
the Hareshill Distribution Park and Pennine Business Park. The use of such material would be 
sympathetic to the character of the business park and adjacent units. The proposed building 

Page 26



would also be set down approximately 4.5 metres from the adjacent Yearsley’s building to the 
south and whilst taller than the INX buildings to the west would act as a stepping stone 
between the two contrasting scales.    
 
As the proposal would be sited towards the northeast corner of the business park the proposal 
would be set well back from Hareshill Road and Pilsworth Road and would viewed within the 
context of existing large scale business and warehouse buildings when viewed from the south, 
west and northwest.  
 
It is noted that the proposal would be visible in glimpses between dwellings along Gloucester 
Avenue to the east. However, it is noted that an earth bund of 7 metres in height with 
established tree planting will provide screening and break up the mass of the building which 
would be visible above the earth bund. In addition, the proposed landscaping scheme has 
been amended to provide a more extensive and concentrated collection of tree planting in the 
northeast corner of the site to provide additional screening from the northeast where the earth 
bund is lowest in height. 
 
The building would be clad in a mixture of vertically detailed light grey and darker grey 
composite panels with horizontal running sections of white cladding panels. The use of white 
cladding panels would help break up the expansive elevations and pronounce the main 
entrances, windows and openings, and would reflect the overall proportions and massing of 
the building.  
 
Therefore, it is considered that the height, scale, layout, design and materials of the proposed 
building would be compatible with the character the surrounding business park and the overall 
appearance and precedents within the immediate street scene. The proposal is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, and the 
NPPF. 
 
Access and Highway Safety Implications 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
Access: 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 
 

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 

 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 
 

1. Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 
2. Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

Page 27



3. Substantially increase congestion; 
4. Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 
5. Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 
 

1. Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use 
them; and 

2. Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
In terms of traffic generation, it is noted that the application has been supported by a Transport 
Assessment (TA). The submitted TA considers that the additional traffic generated by the 
proposed development would have minimal effect on the operation of surrounding highway 
network and that the junction of Hill Top Road and Hareshill Road would still operate within 
capacity thresholds. The Council’s Highways Officers consider the TA to be acceptable and 
have raised no objections to the proposed development. 
 
The proposed development would be accessed by the existing highways infrastructure along 
Hill Top Road and accessed from Hareshill Road via a priority junction. Due to restrictions at 
the Hareshill Road and Manchester Road junction HGV traffic would subsequently be arriving 
and leaving via Pilsworth Road and the M66 to the west. The vehicular infrastructure within the 
immediate surrounding network has been designed to accommodate HGV vehicles that would 
be associated with the proposed facility and that also currently operate from adjacent sites 
within the business park. A continuous footpath would provide pedestrian access to the facility 
from Hill Top Road and would link into surrounding footpath network. Therefore, it is 
considered that the proposed development would provide safe and secure access and would 
not result in any strategic highways implications, in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies A/3, A/8 and A/9.  
 
Parking: 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for such a storage and distribution facility would be 1 space per 100 m2 of 
space. The policy states that car parking provision at less than the maximum standard will be 
accepted subject to an assessment of the following criteria: 
 

• The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of 
providing parking provision within that location; 

• Access to other transport modes; 

• The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 

• The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to 
accommodate parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; 
and 

• The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-
street parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal 
shift away from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures. 

 

Page 28



The proposed scheme would provide 85 no. parking spaces and 6 no. disabled parking 
spaces. The parking provision would be largely in accordance with the above maximum 
parking standards set out in the UDP which would require 84 no. parking spaces. The 
proposed scheme also provides space for cycle storage adjacent to the main pedestrian 
entrance and parking area in the secure rear courtyard area and together with clear and 
convenient pedestrian routes it is considered that the proposal would accord with accessibility 
hierarchy in policy A/2 of the UDP. Furthermore, these parking areas are designed to be 
separated from the manoeuvring areas for HGV which show adequate space for the turning 
circles of HGV’s and vehicles associated with such a use. 
 
In accordance with policy EC/8 it is also noted that the proposed development would retain the 
existing public rights of way that run adjacent to the north and eastern boundaries of the site. 
 
Having regard to the above, the proposed development would make satisfactory 
arrangements for vehicle access, manoeuvring and parking, and would facilitate safe and 
convenient circulation for pedestrians to and from the site. The scheme would not have an 
adverse impact on highway safety and would not generate a level of additional traffic which 
would have a detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of the highway network, 
either adjacent to or further away from the site. The Highways Authority have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to conditions. The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10, H/3 and BE/2, and the 
NPPF. 
 
Landscaping and Impact on Trees 
 
UDP policy NE/7 states that: 

• No work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly affect the health of a 
tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper written authority 
of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other works 
which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works 
carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice.  

 
In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure: 

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and 

• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period. 
 
The application site comprises largely cleared and vacant development site which has been 
inhabited by tall grasses with limited other vegetation coverage. It is noted that there are rows 
of mature trees and hedgerows to the north and east boundaries of the site. The proposed 
scheme would retain these and the landscaping plan submitted shows additional tree planting 
to be provided largely towards the edges of the site. The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has 
not raised any objections to the proposed development and notes that additional tree planting 
would provide additional screening of the building.  
 
Furthermore, following comments received from the Council’s Landscape Team the proposed 
landscape plan has been amended to create a more dense and extensive tree planting buffer 
in the northeast corner of the site. The application has also been supported by a Landscape 

Page 29



Management Plan setting out the objectives for the proposed planting scheme and how it 
would be managed in the long term to retain its aesthetic and ecological benefits. This 
includes a separate Maintenance Schedule for the ornamental shrubs and ground cover and 
trees for the first 5 years, and from year 6 onwards. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that there would be no harm caused to any important landscape 
features and that the proposed additional tree and shrub planting would help to screen the 
proposed building from surrounding properties, and would provide for a satisfactory balance of 
hard and soft landscaping that would be in keeping with the character of the surrounding area. 
Furthermore, through a condition requiring the implementation of the approved Landscape 
Management Plan it is considered that this would be retained in the long term. The proposed 
development is therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/7 and NE/8. 
 
Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications 
 
The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 
 

• minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 
 

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required.  
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure: 

Page 30



• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has 
been safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 

 
The land does not form part of any statutorily designated nature conservation site, nor does 
the ecology report submitted indicate that there are any statutorily protected species inhabiting 
the site. The report does conclude that the site has the potential to support ground nesting 
birds and clearance works on site would need to be carried out outside of the bird nesting 
season. The GMEU have been consulted on the application and have raised no objections on 
nature conservation grounds, and note that whilst the type of planting proposed is ornamental 
it would not necessarily be poor for wildlife.  
 
Subject to a condition preventing any vegetation clearance in the bird nesting season without 
prior survey by an ecologist, it is considered that the proposed development would not cause 
any significant harm to flora and fauna and nature conservation interest and would therefore 
be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage Implications: 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 
 

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

• It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at 
the developer’s expense. 

 
The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, it also lies within the 
Heywood Critical Drainage Area as identified in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.  
 
The application has been supported by an Addendum to the original Flood Risk Assessment 
which was carried out at the outline application approval. The submitted FRA considers the 
risk of flooding to the site from various sources including rivers, groundwater, artificial sources 
and surface water to be low and states that the site and development would be at low risk of 
tidal, fluvial, groundwater, and surface water flooding.  
 
The FRA provides details of a potential drainage strategy for the development in order to limit 
the rate of surface water run-off from the site to pre-development (greenfield) rates of 6.5 l/s 
per hectare. It is proposed that through the incorporation of attenuation mechanisms that a 
maximum of 10.8 l/s from the application site would drain to the existing 150mm surface water 
drain located at the vehicular access to the site in accordance with the previously approved 
drainage strategy for the wider business park site. It is proposed that foul water would drain to 
a separate 150mm foul water drain connection also located at the site entrance to Hill Top 
Road. 
 

Page 31



United Utilities have been consulted and have raised no objections to the proposed 
development subject to conditions securing the design and implementation of appropriate foul 
water drainage system and surface water drainage scheme, and that foul water drains on a 
separate system and the rate of surface water runoff be limited to greenfield levels. As noted 
above it is proposed to limit surface water runoff to levels proportionate to the greenfield levels 
and separate surface water and foul water infrastructure has already been provided within the 
sider site. However, no details of the on site attenuation to achieve a maximum of 10.8 l/s 
surface water runoff have been submitted and in order to accord with the conditions requested 
by United Utilities, conditions have been recommended requiring a detailed drainage design to 
be submitted to demonstrate how surface water and foul water will be disposed. 
 
Given the nature of the proposed use and large amount of vehicles using the site, in order to 
ensure that surface water from the site is trapped, cleaned before entering land drains and 
surrounding watercourses, a condition has been included requiring details of cleaning systems 
or oil interceptors to be installed at the site. 
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that in principle the proposed development would 
not be at significant risk of flooding and subject to adequate on site attenuation measures 
being put in place it is considered that the proposed development would cause no 
unacceptable risk of flooding elsewhere in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/7 and the NPPF. 
 
Land Contamination Implications: 
 
The fifth bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

• remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate. 

 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that: 

• Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented. 

 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that: 

• Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 
development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments 
and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing 
proposals likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent 
conditions. 

 
The site is located within an existing business park and has been the subject of earlier 
preparatory ground works as part of the wider business park development. This application 

Page 32



has been supported by an up to date Geo-Environmental Investigation and Assessment of 
ground conditions and any risk of contaminants. This itself followed earlier Geo-Environmental 
Investigation and Assessment Reports undertaken in January 2007 and May 2010 as part of 
the larger Hareshill Business Park site. 
 
This report concludes that the level of soil and ground based contamination is negligible and 
as such the site is considered suitable for a commercial use. The Council’s Contaminated 
Land Officer is satisfied that considering the submitted report and investigations undertaken 
there is no need for further investigation or the implementation of any remediation measures. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed site would be suitable for the proposed 
commercial form of development and use in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF. 
 
Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy 
 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 
 

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve 
energy through the ongoing use of the development; and 

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new developments of in 
excess of 500m2 of non-residential floorspace to meet at least BREEAM Very good standard, 
with at least 20% reduction in CO2 emissions, against 2006 Building regulations, rising to 25% 
from 2011, 44% from 2014 and 79% from 2017, and that from 2020 zero net carbon will be 
expected. 
 
It is proposed that the scheme would achieve a ‘Very Good’ BREEAM rating which would be in 
accordance with the requirements of policy EM/13 of the UDP and the guidance set out in the 
adopted SPD. The applicant has submitted supporting information setting out how it is 
proposed to reach this standard. Following comments from the Council’s Sustainability 
Officers, further more detailed information has been submitted regarding how a ‘Very Good’ 
BREEAM target will be met. In order to ensure that the development achieves this or other 
suitable target a condition was included on the outline permission for the site requiring the 
development to achieve an appropriate BREEAM rating. 
 
Having regard to the information submitted, it is considered that measures can be put in place 
in order to ensure that the development assists in the efficient use of energy in accordance 
with the requirements of UDP policy EM/13 and the Council’s SPD “Energy and New 
Development”.  
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would provide an 
acceptable form of development that would generate immediate investment in the Borough, 
whilst generating additional employment opportunities in the short and long term and which, 
subject to conditions, would not cause over-riding harm to the amenity of neighbouring 

Page 33



residents and surrounding uses. The proposal would be sympathetic to the scale, design, 
layout, uses, and character of the surrounding Hareshill Distribution Park. The proposed 
scheme would not cause significant harm to the operation and safety of surrounding highway 
network, and subject to conditions would provide satisfactory measures for the attenuation of 
surface water and would not result in increased flood risk elsewhere. The proposal is 
considered to be a sustainable form of development and it is not considered that the adverse 
impacts would outweigh the benefits of the proposed scheme. The proposed development 
would accord with policies G/D/1, G/EC/1, EC/2, EC/8, G/A/1, A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10, A/12, 
G/BE/1, BE/2, BE/8, G/EM/1, EM/3, EM/4, EM/7, G/NE/1, NE/3, NE/4 of the UDP, the Energy 
and New Development SPD, and the policies within the NPPF. It is therefore recommended 
that planning permission be granted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 This permission relates to the following plans and specification:    
   
 Location Plan - 1408/01  
 Existing Site Plan - 1408/02 Rev A  
 Site Plan as Proposed - 1408/04. Rev E  
 General Arrnagement of Ground Floor - 1408/06 Rev C  
 General Arrangement of First Floor - 1408/07 - Rev B  
 General Arrangement of Roof - 1408/08 Rev B  
 Layout of service Core and Offices - 1408/09 Rev D 
 Elevations as proposed - 1408/12 Rev C  
 General Sections as Proposed - 1408/13 Rev B  
 Site Plan Showing proposed Levels - 1408/16 Rev B  
 Site Plan showing Proposed External Finishes - 1408/17  
 Layout of cycle shelter - 1408/ Sk 01 Rev A  
 Contextual Sections across Site - 1408/ Sk 02 Rev A  
 Details of Acoustic Fence - 1408/Sk 12.  
 Soft Landscaping Proposals Site Plan - 666/01/01 Rev A  
 Planting Detail Light standard Tree- LDS No. 599  
 Planting Detail - Standard tree - LSD No. 600  
 Planting Detail - Selected Standard tree - LSD No. 601  
 Planting Detail - Heavy Standard tree - LSD No. 602  
 Planting Detail - Extra Heavy Standard tree - LSD No. 603  
 Staking - Double Stake, Crossbar Extra Heavy Standard Tree - LSD No.610  
 Topographical Survey - SSL:15915:250:1:1  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 2 No above ground works shall take place until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul 

and surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, the scheme shall include:  

   
 - Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any soakaway, 

watercourse or surface water sewer.  

Page 34



 - details of attenuation measures (including flow attenuation measures such as the use 
of SUDS where appropriate) to ensure that the discharge rate of surface water entering 
the surface water drain exceeds no more than 10.8 l/s, and no surface water shall 
discharge to the combined sewerage system directly or indirectly.  

 - details of flow attenuation for foul water to manage flows from on site sprinkler 
system.  

 - details of oil interceptors and cleaning mechanisms to be incorporated into drainage 
systems.  

 - details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.  
   
 The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the duly approved 

details before any of the dwellings are first occupied, or within any other timescale first 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 

ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3 The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the acoustic 

barrier shown on approved drawing nos. 1408/04 Rev E (Site Plan as Proposed) and 
1408/Sk12 (Details of Acoustic Fencing) has been erected in full accordance with the 
approved details. The acoustic barrier shall thereafter be retained throughout the 
lifetime of the development.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation measures in 

order to safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, EM/3, S/6 and S/10. 

 
 4 Within 6 months of the substantial completion of the development hereby approved or 

within the first planting season after the development is substantially completed, the 
approved landscaping plan shall be completed in full accordance with the following 
approved details and drawings:  

   
 Soft Landscaping Proposals Site Plan - 666/01/01 Rev A  
 Planting Detail Light standard Tree- LDS No. 599  
 Planting Detail - Standard tree - LSD No. 600  
 Planting Detail - Selected Standard tree - LSD No. 601  
 Planting Detail - Heavy Standard tree - LSD No. 602  
 Planting Detail - Extra Heavy Standard tree - LSD No. 603  
    
 Any trees, hedgerows or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming 

seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of 
similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory treatment of open spaces between and 

around buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 5 Upon completion of the approved hard and soft landscaping of the site, the approved 

Landscape Management Plan shall be implemented in full accordance with the 
approved details and timetable within the approved Landscape Management Plan titled 
Graftongate, Harehills, Rochdale, prepared by EP Beckmann, Landscape Architect, 
Agathoclis Beckmann Ltd, dated August 2014.  

Page 35



   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 
 
 
 6 Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the development 

hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the details and specification 
of materials, colour and finish on the following approved plans; drawing no. 1408/12 
Rev C (Elevations as Proposed) and 1408/17 (Site plan showing Proposed External 
Finishes).  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of surrounding buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies 
BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 7 Notwithstanding any details contained within the application and Lighting Impact 

Assessment and Report preapred by AOC dated october 2014, full details of any 
external lighting to be installed on the building or on the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its installation. Such details 
shall include its position and height on the building or site and its luminance, angle of 
installation and any hoods to be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be 
installed on the site in accordance with the terms of any such approval. 

 
 8 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, within 3 months of 

the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a Travel Plan shall be 
submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan 
shall contain firm measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring 
regime with agreed mode share targets. In addition the Plan shall set out the 
monitoring procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it 
remains effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be 
implemented within 6 months of the first occupation of the buildings unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented 
thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel to the 

site by sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 9 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place during the above period until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site 
protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved 
methodology.  

   

Page 36



 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
10 No doors or other openings in addition to or as enlargements or alterations to those 

shown on the approved plans shall be inserted within the rear (east facing) elevation of 
the building unless detail of any such insertions have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any doors or other openings shall 
be installed in accordance with the approved details.  

   
 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents in order to comply with 

the requirments of UDP policy BE/2. 
 
11 No noise emanating equipment shall be installed on the rear elevation of the building 

or roofspace unless details of any such equipment, together with details of any 
necessary noise mitigation measures, have first been submitted to an approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any equipment shall thereafter be installed in 
full accordance with the approved details.  

   
 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents in order to comply with 

the requirements of UDP policies BE/2, EM/2 and EM/3. 
 
12 The rooflights within the building hereby permitted shall be non-opening and shall be 

fixed shut at all times, and thereafter be retained as such.  No further rooflights shall be 
installed within the roof space at any time.    

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of surrounding occupiers and to limit the 

potential for noise and disturbance in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies S/6 and EM/3, and the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13 Other than within the areas shown on the hereby approved plans, the areas within the 

application site to the northeast facing elevation (side), southeast facing elevation 
(rear) and the south west facing elevation (side) of the building hereby permitted shall 
not be used for outside storage, the operation of equipment or machinery, and no 
plant, equipment or machinery shall be installed in these areas at any time and for the 
lifetime of the development hereby permitted.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of surrounding occupiers and to limit the 

potential for noise and disturbance in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies S/6 and EM/3, and the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 

 
 
  _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Application Number: 14/01497/HOUS    Ward: Norden       
 

 
Proposal: Two first floor extensions to Listed Building -  resubmission of 
14/00909/HOUS 
 

Site Address: 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages Woodhouse Lane Rochdale OL12 7TB  
 

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Iain Davies 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
This application was called up to committee by Councillor James Gartside on the basis that 
the proposed extensions would improve the quality of the listed building and the additions 
themselves are not a significant increase on the existing structure.  At the meeting of the 
Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on 17th February 2015, members resolved that 
they were minded to grant the application subject to conditions.   
 
In accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, the application is before the Licensing 
and Regulatory Committee as the resolution is contrary to a previous decision of the Council.  
Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee may approve or refuse the application 
on reasonable planning grounds.   
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a residential dwelling, known as 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages, on 
Woodhouse Lane in Norden. The cottage forms part of a larger building complex containing a 
total of four residential dwellings, all of which are Grade II Listed as one whole building. It 
would appear that the first property to be built was called Woodhouse (now No.1 Woodhouse 
Farm Cottage), the most southern section of the building, and this was constructed in 1709 as 
per the date on the door lintel. Two additional cottages were erected on the north facing gable 
elevation of Woodhouse to create numbers 3 & 5 Woodhouse Cottages. To the rear of number 
5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages a further two cottages were erected to be known as 7 & 9 
Woodhouse Farm Cottages. The two properties at 7 & 9 were built at a right angle to the other 
three dwellings to create an L-shaped building. It is unclear as to when the additional four 
cottages were built, and it could be that they were built at the same time as number 1 
Woodhouse Farm Cottage, however it is likely that these were built after the main house.  
 
As mentioned previously, the whole building is currently being utilised as four separate 
properties with numbers 1 & 3 being one large dwelling, and 5, 7, & 9 all separate dwellings. 
The application relates specifically to the dwelling at number 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottage 
which has itself been significantly extended in the past. The application dwelling (5 
Woodhouse Farm Cottage) has been extended in the following ways: 
 

• Two storey side extension to the north facing gable elevation, with a single storey flat 
roofed extension positioned to the rear of this extension. The two storey extension has 
a mono-pitched roof at the front, matching the existing roof profile of the main building, 
and a flat roof at the rear.  

• Single storey side extension attached to the north facing side elevation of the two 
storey side extension. This extension projects forward of the main front elevation and 
has a pitched roof design with the gable elevation facing Woodhouse Lane 
(perpendicular to the ridge of the main building).  

• An additional flat roofed single storey extension attached to the north of the pitched 
roof single storey extension.  

• A detached double garage to the north of the extended dwelling.   
 
With all of the above in mind, it is considered that the actual dwelling (listed building) at 5 
Woodhouse Farm Cottages has been extended three times, with an additional fourth 
extension providing a detached garage. The detached garage was granted planning 
permission in 1987. A chronological list of these extensions and conversions is set out below, 
however all of these have been undertaken from 1965 onwards, 
 
In terms of appearance, the application dwelling was constructed using coursed rubble with 
stone dressing and a stone slate roof. In addition to the material used on the dwelling, the 
most attractive feature of the building is the stone mullions surrounding many of the original 
windows.  

Page 39



 
The application site is located within the Green Belt with open fields to the north and west of 
the site. To the south and east is a suburban residential estate which provides access to the 
application site via a narrow track. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This application is a resubmission of application no. 14/00909/HOUS and seeks full planning 
permission to construct a first floor rear extension and alteration of existing flat roof to provide 
a pitch roof. The first floor rear extension would be constructed above a single storey flat roof 
section of the building to the side of the original dwelling, adjoining the neighbouring property 
at number 7 Woodhouse Farm Cottages. This first floor extension would provide a dressing 
room and has been reduced in width following the previous refusal of permission and again 
during the life of this application. This extension is now set in 1.5 metres from the rear ground 
floor and measures 2.7m x 4.2m. The extension would be of modern flat roof design 
constructed in natural stone and have a modern wrap-around window. These windows would 
be surrounded with stone mullions as per the other windows in the property.  
 
The second proposed extension proposes to replace the existing flat roof above the lounge / 
snooker room with a gable fronted pitched roof would be positioned above the most northern 
of the single storey extensions. This application has amended the scheme to remove the first 
floor space above the lounge that was provided by this roof extension. The roof extension 
would require the eaves height to be raised by 400mm to 3.1m, and a pitched roof would be 
constructed above with a ridge height of 5.6m above ground floor level. The pitched roof would 
be gable fronted to match the adjacent single storey extension and thus would run 
perpendicular to the ridge of the original building. The front elevation would contain a narrow 
window slit detail with a large and contemporary oak framed window to the rear elevation, with 
2 no. conservation style rooflights in each roof slope.       
 
An application reference no. 14/01498/LBC seeking the respective listed building consent for 
these works accompanied this application and following resolution to approve permission at 
the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee consent has been granted subject to 
conditions. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY / LEGISLATION 
 
Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 (As Amended) 
 
Section 66(1) of the Act states that the Local Planning Authority “shall have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.” 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 

Page 40



cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/D/2              Green Belt 
D/7  Extensions to Residential Properties  
 
G/H/1              Housing 
H/11                Residential Extensions 
 
G/BE/1            Design Quality 
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development 
 
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Environment 
BE/14  Alterations and Extensions to Listed Buildings  
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’. 
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
66/10849 – Private garage – Approved – 21/9/66. 
 
72/15064 – Extensions, Alterations and Private Garage – Approved – 8/8/72. 
 
76/D3011 – Two storey extension and conversion of garage to study – Granted  - 27/4/76. 
 
87/D20618 - Private double garage and formation of new vehicular access (outline pp)  – 
Granted  
 
88/D21614 – Private double garage – Granted  
 
08/D51427 – New entrance door and window to listed building – Granted  
 
14/00909/HOUS - Two first floor extensions - Refused 
 
14/00910/LBC – Listed Building Consent for two first floor extensions – Granted  
 
14/01498/LBC - Listed Building Consent for two first floor extensions – Approved subject to 
conditions. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways And Engineering - no highways objection to this proposal.  
  
Conservation And Design - 5 Woodhouse is a Grade II listed building, which forms part of a 
group of buildings, all of which are listed. Listed Building Consent is sought for the 
construction of two extensions. The cottage has been gradually surrounded by extensions. 
Generally the original cottage structure has received only minor modifications and therefore 
retained much of its character and appearance. The listed building description notes a date of 
"W B 1709" (William and Michael Bentley) can be found on the door lintel. The building is 
described as being of coursed rubble with stone dressings and stone slate roof. 3-unit hearth-

Page 41



passage plan with projecting porch of slightly later date, projecting cross-wing to left, a single-
storey addition to left and a later 2-storey house, now being used on 2 cottages.  
  
The council’s previous conservation officer carried out pre-application discussions with the 
agent and the owner. The applicant was advised that any extension should not attempt to 
imitate or create a pastiche from the existing building. Consequently, contemporary designed 
extensions were suggested. 
  
The application proposes two further extensions to existing less satisfactory alterations carried 
out in the 20th century. The two extensions each show a different approach, one is a more 
traditional design with contemporary details to the rear and the other follows the existing 
details of a previous extension.  
  
The first is above an existing flat roofed extension, which would have a gabled roof 
perpendicular to that of the main house with a mullioned window to the front elevation which is 
the more traditionally designed of the two extensions and to the rear of this extension a 
contemporary oak framed window. Both extensions involve the modification of an existing 
extension that was carried out in the 20th century, which will minimise the impact to the fabric 
of the cottage.  
 
The second extension would be located on the rear elevation above an existing flat roof and 
would also be finished with a flat roof at first floor. There is a clear opportunity here to enhance 
the existing insensitive extension rather than duplicate the existing design. 
  
In principle extensions to the property are accepted. However, I would advise for the design to 
be revised. Extensions are additional components and should complement the form and 
character of the original building rather than seek to transform it into something else. This can 
be achieved either by continuation of the established design form or through an appropriate 
contrast in high quality contemporary design. The current design of the extensions attempt to 
mimic the historic style. High quality of design, relevant to context, is the most important factor, 
and at times as in this case a contemporary solution that provides modern spaces, while at the 
same time considers the scale, materials and elevation rhythm of its context may provide the 
better solution.  
 
Modern interventions were discussed during pre-application stage and Whitfield Farm in 
Littleborough was given as an example of a contemporary style extension successfully 
achieved within the Borough. 
 
A proposal that enables the original cottage to remain as the dominate element but utilises 
high quality materials to upgrade the existing poor quality alterations carried out in the 20th 
century would enhance the listed building. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours, a notice positioned close to the 
site and an advert taken out in the local paper. No representations have been received. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of development within green belt 
 
The application site is located within the Green Belt and as such the proposal must be 
considered against the relevant Green Belt policies in the Rochdale UDP and National 
Guidance contained within the NPPF.  
 

Page 42



Chapter 9 of the NPPF reaffirms the aims and objectives of the Green Belt. Paragraph 89 of 
the NPPF states the extension or alteration of an existing building is only acceptable where “it 
does not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building”.  
 
With regard to the Rochdale UDP, Policy D/7 (Extensions to Residential Properties), seeks to 
ensure that extensions within the green belt do “not result in disproportionate additions over 
and above the size of the original dwelling and is not visually detrimental by reason of its 
siting, materials or design”.  
 
In addition to the above requirements, the Council’s SPG for Residential Development states 
that “Within Green Belt locations, permission will not normally be granted for extensions in 
excess of 30% of the volume of the original dwelling”.  
 
The application dwelling has been extended significantly in the past, with evidence from 
historical maps and the planning history set out above showing that these extensions have all 
been built since 1965 (any development prior to 1 July 1948 would be considered ‘original’ for 
the purposes of this assessment) and therefore the extensions are not considered to be 
“original” in planning terms. These existing extensions, including the detached double garage, 
must therefore be included in any calculations when considering the proportionate increase in 
the size of original dwelling. The approximate calculations undertaken by the LPA are as 
follows:-  
 
Footprint – 
 
Original house = 50m² 
 
Extensions existing  = 143.4m2 
 
Extensions proposed = 143.4m² 
 
No increase on existing footprint of buildings 
 

286% increase in footprint from original dwelling.  
 
 
Floorspace -  
 
Original = 85.7m2 
 
Existing = 133.2m2 
 
Proposed = 9.1m2 
 
6%  increase over existing floorspace.  
 
166% increase in floorspace of original dwelling. 
 
 
Volume –  
 
Original house = 360.4m³ 
 
Existing Extensions = 459.4 m3 
 
127.5% increase on original dwelling 
 

Page 43



Proposed Extensions = 78.5m³ 
 
9.6% increase in volume on existing dwelling. 
 

149% increase in volume of original dwelling. 
 
Whilst it is recognised that the above figures are not exact calculations, the figures are 
considered to be accurate for the purposes of this exercise and where necessary the LPA has 
been cautious/lenient in the calculations) In addition, in this instance it is noted that the above 
percentage figures are significantly above the 30% limit on volume increase to dwellings in the 
Green Belt set out in the Council’s SPG.    
  
In view of the above calculations, the application dwelling has already been vastly increased 
from its original size and the approximate increase in floorspace (166%) and volume (149%) 
are far beyond the 30% allowance that is recommended in the Council’s SPG for Residential 
Extensions. Whilst it is accepted that this current application would not increase the footprint of 
the existing building and there would be a limited increase in floorspace proposed (9.1 m2), 
given the significant increase in volume of existing extensions well over the limit set out in 
guidance, it is considered that the existing and proposed extensions would result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original dwelling.  
 
The NPPF considers disproportionate additions to dwellings to be inappropriate development 
within the green belt, and inappropriate development is by definition, harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances (para 87 of NPPF).  
 
The applicants have highlighted that a proposed two storey rear extension very similar to the 
first floor rear extension now proposed has previously been approved and granted planning 
permission in 1976, reference number 76/D3011. However, this permission has long since 
lapsed and it is noted that since this permission was granted a detached garage has been 
granted permission and erected at the site.  
 
The applicants also highlight that the proposed extensions and alterations proposed within this 
scheme would improve the thermal performance of the building and bring it up to modern 
standards and reduce the carbon footprint of the dwelling and reduce reliance on fossil fuels.  
 
The applicants also highlight that the proposed first floor rear extension being sited at the rear 
and in the existing footprint of the building would not be visible from public view or encroach 
into the Green Belt.  Whilst these benefits are noted, it is not considered that these alone 
would constitute very special circumstances and nor that these would be sufficient to outweigh 
the harm caused to the green belt by way of its inappropriateness. 
 
With respect to whether there are any other material considerations or very special 
circumstances that would outweigh the harm caused to the Green Belt as required by Policy 
D/7 of the UDP, and the policies set out in the NPPF these will be discussed in more detail 
below. However, it is noted in this instance that the proposed extensions would not conflict 
with the 5 purposes of including land in the Green Belt. These being, to check the unrestricted 
sprawl of large built-up areas; to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; to 
assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; to preserve the setting and special 
character of historic towns; and to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling 
of derelict and other urban land. 
 
Design, Appearance and Impact on Listed Building 
 
With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 

Page 44



have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Furthermore, the Court of Appeal 
has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing 
exercise. 
 
Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.” 
 
UDP Policy BE/14 stipulates that development proposals affecting the character of a Listed 
Building must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host building, its 
curtilage and the surrounding area. In particular, applications will need to demonstrate, 
through the provision of detailed plans, that: 
 

1. Account has been taken of the scale and proportions of the host building, and its 
relationship to other buildings and their setting; 

2. Sympathetic and high quality materials are used; 
3. Internal spaces, features and fixtures are retained; and 
4. Appropriate detailing is employed throughout, particularly the arrangement and design 

of fenestration and appropriate roof forms.  
 
In addition, Policy BE/15 does not permit development that would harm the setting of listed 
building through its siting, scale, design or materials.   
 
The application dwelling is a Grade II Listed Building and therefore careful consideration must 
be given to the design and appearance of the proposed extensions. The main significance of 
this group of listed building is the grand aesthetic value of the front elevation of number 1 
Woodhouse Farm Cottage, and it is considered the simple, yet attractive, design of the 
adjoining cottages creates a balance to the front elevation and even lends weight towards the 
impressive front elevation of No. 1 Woodhouse Farm Cottage.  
 
A separate Listed Building Consent (14/01498/LBC) has recently been granted for the 
proposed extensions to no. 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages, and the design, scale and 
appearance of the proposed extensions within this application are the same as this existing 
listed building consent.  
 
As noted above, the main elevation of interest in this collection of listed buildings is the front 
elevation facing onto Woodhouse Lane. The application seeks to replace an existing flat roof 
section of the building facing onto Woodhouse Lane with a gable fronted pitched roof running 
perpendicular to the main roof of the dwelling. It is noted that at the opposite end of the row of 
cottages, no. 1 Woodhouse Farm Cottage, contains a gable fronted elevation which creates a 
strong anchor/book end to this most prominent elevation and that the application has sought to 
replicate this. Whilst these elements differ in their proportions and scale, it is considered that 
the addition of a similar corresponding feature to the most prominent elevation would preserve 
and enhance the architectural and aesthetic qualities of the listed row of cottages.  
 
As in the previous application for listed building consent that was approved (14/00909/LBC), 
the current application also proposes to erect a first floor extension above an existing single 
storey extension at the side/rear of the property. This extension would have a flat roof design 
in order to stay below the eaves of the adjoining two storey extension, and would be 
concealed behind a parapet wall. In addition, being at the rear of the dwelling it would not be 
highly visible or prominent. This extension would also have an interesting mullion window 
which wraps around the corner, creating a modern twist of the overall theme of mullion 
windows on the remainder of the building.  
 

Page 45



As in the previous application for similar proposed extensions to the dwelling, it is noted that 
the Conservation Officer has suggested improvements to the design of the proposed 
extensions. Nevertheless, it is noted that listed building consent has been granted (reference 
no. 14/00909/LBC) for very similar extensions to those currently proposed in this application.   
 
It is also noted that both elements of the application seek to extend above recent, less 
attractive additions to the building, and these recent additions do not contribute to the 
aesthetic quality of the listed building. In addition, it is noted that the proposed extension at the 
rear would be discretely sited, and the northernmost extension would be viewed separately 
from the historic core of the main building. In addition the proposed extensions would be 
constructed using materials that match those of the existing dwelling. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the extensions have been designed to match the scale and 
proportion of the existing building, and the materials used would match those of the existing 
building and the proposals would preserve the aesthetic quality, historic and architectural 
significance and significance of the heritage asset. The design of the proposed extensions are 
therefore considered to accord with the requirements of UDP Policies BE/14 and BE/15, and 
the policies within section 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Furthermore, it is noted that the proposed alterations would not only preserve the architectural 
and aesthetic qualities of the listed row of cottages, but would improve the appearance of the 
listed building along Woodhouse Lane by replacing existing unsympathetic 20th century flat 
roof additions to the listed building with sympathetic gable fronted dual pitch roof extension. In 
this regard, it is set out in primary legislation that considerable weight and importance should 
be given to the desirability of preserving and enhancing the setting of listed buildings (section 
66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990).  
 
Therefore, whilst as set out above and as required by the NPPF, substantial weight has been 
given to the harm caused to the Green Belt by way of inappropriateness, considerable weight 
has also been given to the importance of preserving and enhancing nationally important 
heritage assets. In this instance, the proposals themselves would enable the removal of an 
unsympathetic flat roof addition and its replacement with a sympathetic addition and at the 
same time would not cause any significant additional impact on the two essential 
characteristics of the Green Belt, being its permanence and openness. As noted above, the 
proposals would not compromise the objectives of the Green Belt, and it is considered that the 
proposal would help to the preserve and enhance an attractive Grade II listed row of cottages.  
Whilst substantial weight has been given to the harm caused to the green belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, it is considered in this case that, having special regard to the desirability of 
preserving and enhancing the listed building, the benefits in this respect comprise very special 
circumstances that outweigh the harm to the green belt.   
 
Impact upon Neighbouring Residents  
 
Policy H/11 of the UDP states that extensions will only be permitted where they would not 
unduly affect the privacy and amenity of adjoining residents through overlooking, 
overshadowing, loss of outlook or daylight.  
 
The application seeks permission to erect a first floor rear extension to the existing dwelling. 
and alter an existing flat roof to form a pitched roof gable. The extension to provide a pitched 
roof gable to the northernmost part of the dwelling would be located a significant distance from 
any neighbouring properties and as such would have no significant impact upon the amenity of 
neighbouring residents.  
 
The neighbouring dwelling at no. 7 Woodhouse Farm Cottages has habitable windows in both 
the ground and first floor levels of the rear elevation, set within close proximity to the boundary 
shared with the application dwelling. The Council’s SPG states that first floor extensions such 

Page 46



as this should not project more than 2.4m along a shared boundary, and beyond this they 
should not project beyond a 30 degree line drawn from this point on the shared boundary. 
 
Following the refusal of application 14/00909/HOUS, the proposed first floor rear extension 
above the kitchen has been amended to reduce its width and set it in 1.5 metres from the 
shared boundary with no. 7 Woodhouse Farm Cottages. As a result of the subsequent set 
back from the shared boundary, it is noted that the existing two storey element of no. 5 
Woodhouse Farm Cottages sited along the shared boundary with no. 7 would largely screen 
the proposed first floor extension so that it would not be visible from the centre point of the 
neighbours rear facing ground floor window. In addition, as a result of the flat roof design, its 
height below that of the existing two storey flat roof and pitched roof side extension at no. 5 
Woodhouse Farm Cottages and its set back from the shared boundary, the proposal when 
viewed from the rear yard would be seen in the back drop and context of the existing built form 
of no. 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages.  
 
In view of the above, it is considered that the proposed first floor extensions would not cause 
any significant harm to the amenity of the adjoining occupiers of no. 7 Woodhouse Farm 
Cottages. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would now comply with 
criteria c) of Unitary Development Plan Policy H/11, which seeks to ensure that proposals do 
not unduly affect the privacy and amenity of neighbour residents through overshadowing, loss 
of outlook or daylight, and the previous reason for refusal has therefore been overcome.  
 
SUMMARY AND BALANCING EXERCISE 
 
The application seeks permission to carry out two first floor extensions to a listed building 
within the Green Belt. It is considered that the design of the proposed extensions is acceptable 
in relation to the listed building and the character of the surrounding area, and following the 
amendments to the first floor rear extension, it is considered that the proposal extension would 
not cause any significant additional loss of daylight, outlook or result in undue overbearing 
impact to the occupiers of no. 7 Woodhouse Farm Cottages over and above the existing 
situation. Despite reductions in the bulk of proposed extensions, the proposed extensions, 
along with the previous extensions at the property, would still constitute disproportionate 
additions over and above the size of the original dwelling house.  
 
Such inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and is only 
considered to be acceptable where very special circumstances exist that would outweigh the 
substantial harm caused by way of its inappropriateness. In this instance, regard has been 
had to the considerable weight and importance given to the desirability of preserving the listed 
buildings and their settings when carrying out the balancing exercise in considering 
development affecting a listed building that is expressed in primary legislation in section 66(1) 
of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990. In particular, it is noted that 
the proposed alterations would preserve the architectural and aesthetic qualities of the listed 
row of cottages, and would replace existing unsympathetic 20th century flat roof additions at 
the site. It is considered that these benefits comprise very special circumstances that would 
outweigh the limited additional harm to the openness of the Green Belt presented by the 
limited bulk of the proposed additions. 
 

Having considered the above and the balancing exercise, it is considered that in this instance, 
very special circumstances exist that would outweigh the harm to the green belt by reason of 
inappropriateness.  In addition, the proposal would not conflict with the five purposes of 
including land in the Green Belt, these being: to prevent the unrestricted sprawl of large built-
up areas; to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; to assist in safeguarding 
the countryside from encroachment; to preserve the setting and special character of historic 
towns; and to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. The proposed development is considered to constitute a sustainable form of 

Page 47



development that would comply with the policies GD/2, D/7, H/11, BE/7, BE/15 of the UDP 
and the policies set out within the NPPF. Therefore, it is recommended that members approve 
the application subject to conditions. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to conditions:- 
 

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this consent.   

     
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans and documents:-   
     
  5WHC/001G   
     
 And the development shall not be carried out other than in completed accordance with 

these drawings and documents hereby approved.   
     
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no development shall 

take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the following:   

     
 -   Samples of all materials including natural stone, natural slate and finish and colour 

of timber to be used in the external elevations and roof of the extensions;   
 -  Details of stone coursing;   
 -  Details of mortar mix;   
 -  Type of pointing.   
     
 Only the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 

approval.   
     
 Reason: In order to ensure the proposal does not harm the architectural or historic 

importance of the building or its significance in accordance with the requirements of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
 4 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development shall take place until the 

following details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.    

     
 -  Detailed section and elevation drawings (at scale of no greater than 1:20) of the 

window and door openings to be installed showing the surrounds, frame, and window 
and door reveals.   

 -  Detailed section drawings (at scale of no greater than 1:20) showing the parapet 
walls and roof of the flat roof extension;   

 -  Detailed section drawings (at scale of no greater than 1:20) of the bargeboards, 
eaves and soffits of the pitched roof extension;   

     

Page 48



 The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.   

     
 Reason: In order to ensure the proposal does not harm the architectural or historic 

importance of the building or its significance in accordance with the requirements of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework and saved policy BE/14 of the 
Rochdale Council Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 5 All rainwater goods shall be cast iron finished to match the existing building, or as 

otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
     
 Reason: In order to ensure the proposal does not harm the architectural or historic 

importance of the building or its significance in accordance with the requirements of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework and saved policy BE/14 of the 
Rochdale Council Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 6 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development shall take place until 

details of the conservation style rooflights to be used in the pitched roof extension have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: In order to ensure the proposal does not harm the architectural or historic 

importance of the building or its significance in accordance with the requirements of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework and saved policy BE/14 of the 
Rochdale Council Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 

 
 
  _______________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 49



L and R  09/03/2015 – Site Visits 

 

The following visits for L&R in order: 

 

4.00pm                 Hill Top Road Heywood 

4.30pm                 51 Aspinall Street Heywood 

5.00pm                 5 Woodhouse Farm Cottages Woodhouse Lane Rochdale 

 

 

Page 50


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Submitted Planning applications
	L and R  09.03.15 - site visits.docx


